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Summary 

 
The Centre for Applied Archaeology, University of Salford (CfAA) was commissioned by 

English Cities Fund to undertake an archaeological excavation on land located off Stanley 

Street, Central Salford (centred on SJ8310 9837), as part of a scheme known as Central 

Salford Regeneration.  An archaeological evaluation was carried out on plot B1 in June 

2013 (Reader 2013), which revealed the substantial remains of New Bailey Prison.  The 

open area excavations comprised of five joining trenches, with two óislandsô within the 

excavation area, according to the building footprint plan.  This was located within the 

north-western corner of New Bailey Prison, which consisted of male felon cells, 

workshops and yard areas which were constructed from 1815 onwards.  Seven phases of 

activity were identified ranging from possible Medieval/Post-Medieval ploughing to 

modern day. 

 

Possible ploughsoil predating the prison was encountered within the Prison Chapel area, 

however no other structures were encountered.  The first structures encountered belonged 

to the first major extension to the New Bailey Prison in 1815.  The main prison structures 

identified belonging to this period were the Male Felon Workshops, Male Felon Cells and 

Schoolroom.  These were curved in shape, an unusual design for the time as only two 

other examples of curved prison structures are known, of which New Bailey appears to be 

the earliest.  These were in a good state of preservation, with foundations surviving to 

3.00m deep and archways within the Workshop building probably constructed for airflow 

to prevent the spread of diseases.  The Cells were broadly 2.00 x 2.00m and 

accommodated one prisoner, with a repetitive structure of three cells either side of a 

corridor and a dayroom, where the prisoners took their meals. 

 

In c.1820, two more buildings were constructed: the Prison Chapel and the Male Hospital 

wing.  The Male Hospital wing was added to the eastern side of the Workshops but was 

badly constructed, with poor foundations.  The Prison Chapel sat to the east of the Cells 

and south of the Hospital and was circular in shape.  In addition, yard walls between the 

Male Felon Workshops and Cells were added, as well as further yard walls radiating from 

a central point westwards towards the cells.  These helped to separate the prisoners into 

classes according to their crime.  One further structure only appears on the 1848 Ordnance 

Survey map, which is the Male Felonsô Turnkey Office, just SW of the Chapel. 

 

However, these buildings were only to last c.50 years as changing legislation and penal 

systems meant the design of New Bailey could not sustain them.  A new prison was 

constructed at Strangeways (opened in 1868) and New Bailey was sold to the Lancashire 

and Yorkshire Railway company.  After the prison was demolished, the land became a 

railway goods yard in 1872 and a series of features were constructed, including a potential 

building within the south-eastern corner of the excavation area.  Early timber crane bases 

possibly related to the movement of goods were located, as well as their potential 

replacements in the form of concrete bases.  The railway remains had relatively little 

impact on the prison remains, even utilising them to support heavy machinery and 

hydraulics.  Stone blocks supported regularly spaced, probably metal, pillars which 

supported a fairly temporary shed.  Railway lines for the sidings and cobbled surfaces 

were very well preserved also.  However due to increasing road traffic and damage after 

World War II bombings, the Goods Yard shut in the early 1960s and became a car park. 
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1. Introduction 

 
1.1 Background 

 

The Centre for Applied Archaeology, University of Salford (CfAA) was commissioned by 

English Cities Fund to undertake an archaeological excavation on plot B1 of the Central 

Salford Regeneration programme.  This area covers the area once occupied by New Bailey 

Prison, Salford, Greater Manchester (NGR SJ8310 9837). 

 

1.2 Location, Topography and Current Land Use 

 

The study area lies within the Blackfriars area of the metropolitan borough of the City of 

Salford, within the south-east area of the City of Salford.  The study area is centred on 

SJ8310 9837 and the land lies to the south-east of Salford Central station.  The area is 

bounded by Irwell Street to the west, river Irwell to the south, New Bailey Street to the 

east and Salford Central station and railway line to the north.  The excavation area lies at 

approximately 28m AOD and the area is currently used as a car park. 

 

The underlying solid geology, as mapped by the British Geological Society 

(www.bgs.ac.uk), consists of Halesowen formation mudstone, siltstone and sandstone.  

This is overlain by superficial deposits consisting of Diamicton till deposits. 

 

1.3 Personnel 

 

The project was conducted by professional archaeologists from the CfAA.  On-site 

excavations were conducted by Rachael Reader, John Roberts, Andrew McGuire and 

Sarah-Jayne Murphy.  The report was compiled and written by Rachael Reader and 

illustrated by Andrew McGuire.  The project was managed by Adam Thompson. 

 

1.4 Monitoring 

 

Norman Redhead, the County Archaeologist for Greater Manchester (Greater Manchester 

Archaeology Advisory Service, GMAAS) monitored the archaeological works. 

http://www.bgs.ac.uk/
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2. Historical Background  

 
2.1 Introduction 

 

The land off Stanley Street is currently the site of public and private car parks and office 

blocks; however the area once housed the New Bailey Prison from 1790 to 1868.  The 

land was then subsequently used as a railway goods yard, before becoming a car park in 

the 1960s.  An archaeological Desk-Based Assessment was carried out prior to the 

excavation and the full historical background can be found within (Nash 2013).  In 

accordance with these findings, an archaeological evaluation was carried out on plot B1 

(NW corner of the study area) in June 2013.  The results of this evaluation subsequently 

informed the open area excavation considered here. 

 

 
 

Fig. 1 Plan showing the Central Salford redevelopment, with B1 under consideration in this report 

 

2.2 Historical Background  

 

An archaeological Desk Based Assessment was conducted during May 2013 by CfAA 

(Nash CfAA/017/2013), the summary of which is reproduced below: 

 

Historical research has revealed that prior to the 18th century, the study area and much of 

its surroundings were undeveloped farmland. Casson and Berryôs map of Manchester and 

Salford dated 1741 shows that during the first half of the 18th century the study area was 


